

Justice for Palestine

Promoting decent work and respect for Palestinian rights



Contents

Executive summary	3
Impact of the occupation on workers and their livelihoods	3
Trade, business and human rights	5
Occupation and annexation	8
The illegal occupation of Palestinian territory	8
Palestinians experience grave human rights violations	8
The settlements and wall violate international law	9
The blockade of Gaza – a form of collective punishment	11
Annexation	11
Considering the crime of apartheid in Israel	12
TUC policy	13
The impact of the occupation on workers and livelihoods	14
Access to decent work denied	14
The labour market – bleak prospects for Palestinian workers	14
Labour rights abuses in the settlements and Israel	16
A work permit system that exploits Palestinians	17
Wage deductions and freedom of association denied	17
Unsafe working conditions	18
Covid-19 and Palestinian workers	19
Israel's control of natural resources in the occupied Palestinian territory	20
TUC policy and action	21
Trade, business and human rights	22
UK trade with Israel ignores violations of Palestinian rights	22
Mandatory labelling of settlement produce	23
Business complicity in the occupation and human rights violations	23
Companies: ethical decisions and accountability	24
Local government pension schemes can invest to promote peace	25
TUC policy	25
Our work and trade union solidarity	26
Appendix A	27
Motion 66 – Solidarity with Palestine and resisting annexation	
Explanation	27
Endnotes	29

Executive summary

Palestine is one of the worst countries in the world to be a worker. This report sets out TUC policy and the evidence base in support of Palestinian workers' rights. The TUC has long-standing policy in support of justice for Palestine, guided by international law and UN resolutions, as demonstrated by Congress motions passed in 2010, 2012, 2014, 2018, 2019 and 2020.

In order to secure decent work for Palestinians, the TUC believes we need:

- Respect for Palestinian rights, including the right to collective self-determination and the right to return.
- An end to the illegal military occupation of Palestinian territories and annexation of East Jerusalem, an end to the blockade of Gaza, and for the permanent halt to any further annexation.
- Support for genuine efforts towards a just, comprehensive, and lasting peace that is consistent with international law and based on a two-state solution.

The illegal military occupation of Palestine, expansion of Israeli settlements, blockade of Gaza and ongoing threat¹ of official annexation contravene multiple international laws. They also undermine Palestinian rights to collective self-determination and efforts to find a peaceful two state solution, and have led to numerous human rights abuses over many decades. A 2019 UN report declared that the human rights situation for Palestinians "deteriorates day-by-day".² Human rights violations in the occupied Palestinian territory (OPT) include land confiscation, home demolitions, excessive use of force and torture, lack of freedom of movement, and the imposition of a two-tier system of political, legal, social, cultural and economic rights based on ethnicity and nationality.³

The International Trade Union Confederation's (ITUC) Global Rights Index (2020) places Palestine in its worst ranking with "no guarantee of fundamental labour rights" due to a breakdown in the rule of law.⁴ And in recognising that the occupation is a barrier to achieving decent work, the International Labour Organisation's (ILO) Decent Work Programme 2018-2021 aims to support the State of Palestine's National Policy Agenda through three pillars: i) the path to independence, ii) ending the occupation and iii) sustainable development.⁵

We recognise the importance of working with affiliates, the ITUC and like-minded civil society organisations in the UK, Palestine and Israel to progress justice for Palestine.

Impact of the occupation on workers and their livelihoods

Economic impact

Between 2000 and 2017 the fiscal cost of the illegal military occupation to the Palestinian people was US\$48bn (£36bn). If this US\$48bn had been injected through expansionary

fiscal policies, UN Conference on Trade and Development (UNCTAD) estimates that this would have generated 2 million job opportunities (111,000 new jobs per year) during the same period.⁶

Unemployment for Palestinians is high, reflecting the discrimination and precarity faced by Palestinian workers. In the second quarter of 2020 (April-June), unemployment in Gaza stood at 49 per cent in general, and 66 per cent for women.⁷ In the West Bank, unemployment for the same period was 15 per cent, and 26 per cent for women.⁸ According to the ILO, "nowhere in the world does the labour market situation of women appear so dire".⁹

Wages in Gaza are 36 per cent lower than those of employees in the West Bank, and over 70 per cent lower than average Palestinian wages in Israel and the settlements. Poverty is pervasive in Gaza where 68 per cent of households are moderately or severely food insecure.¹⁰

Working in the settlements and Israel

Poor working conditions and employment prospects in the OPT leave workers with little choice other than to seek work in the illegal settlements and Israel. In 2019, an estimated 110,000 Palestinians from the occupied territories were employed in Israel and a further 29,000 worked in settlements.¹¹ Work in the settlements is often informal and unregulated and Palestinian workers report multiple employment abuses including being paid below the minimum wage, unregulated hiring, and incidences of child labour, especially in agriculture. Virtually no labour inspections take place, meaning violations are rarely penalised and rights are seldom enforced.¹²

In addition, Palestinian workers have been required to have a permit to work in Israel or the settlements. This has exposed them to exploitation through unscrupulous labour brokers and through binding them to an employer. Finally, the Israeli government has announced¹³ it will improve the permit system, so that Palestinian construction workers in Israel will receive their permits directly. This is a step forward and should establish a direct employment relationship between workers and employers, rather than through labour brokers, but enforcement will be vital. More information about this policy change is needed, and we want to see a system where every worker is treated fairly and has decent work. Currently, around 28,600 Palestinians do not have a permit and face even greater exploitation.¹⁴

Wage deductions and freedom of association

Palestinian workers are subject to a series of taxes enforced by the Israeli government but receive no protection or rights in return. The Paris protocol stipulates that these taxes should be transferred to the Palestinian Authority (PA) monthly, however, Israel regularly withholds large sums of these taxes. Between 2006-2013 Israel retained a total of €164m (£146m) of 'equalisation taxes'.¹⁵

The Israeli government's Pay Department is meant to guarantee Palestinian workers entitlements to benefits, but frequently fails in its duty. Inaccuracies have resulted in many

Palestinians being paid below the minimum wage, and payslips failing to record accurate information about benefits such as sick pay.¹⁶

Palestinian workers in Israel cannot join a union of their choosing, unlike their Israeli colleagues and Palestinian unions are prevented from acting legally in the settlements because they are under Israeli control, leaving Palestinian workers with few avenues to pursue their employment rights.¹⁷

Covid-19

During the Covid-19 lockdown period 52 per cent of Palestinian workers did not receive their salary or wages and 25 per cent received only partial wages.¹⁸

According to the Palestine General Federation of Trade Unions (PGFTU), 75,000 workers have been arbitrarily dismissed. By April 2020, over 453,000 Palestinian workers had lost their jobs and over 115,000 families were pushed into poverty.¹⁹

Health and safety

Many Palestinians work in unhealthy and unsafe conditions. The construction industry is particularly dangerous for Palestinian workers. Numbers of fatalities and injuries on Israeli construction sites are higher than many other developed countries. In 2019, 47 construction workers died on site, 31 of whom were Palestinians.²⁰

Israeli control of natural resources in occupied Palestinian territories

The potential contribution of natural resources to the Palestinian economy is large, but Israeli control of Palestinian natural resources finances the settlement enterprise and keeps the settlements economically viable for the Israeli state. At the same time, this hinders Palestinian economic development and access to decent jobs, forcing Palestinians to work as cheap labour for Israeli settler industries in precarious and exploitable conditions, as mentioned previously. This can be seen in the case of quarrying, use of Dead Sea resources and farming, for example.

Trade, business and human rights

The UK carries out significant trade with Israel, but to date has not used this relationship to try to ensure adherence to human and workers' rights.

The current minister of state for trade policy has stated that throughout the continuity trade deal programme there will be no diminution of UK standards, including on human rights.²¹ However, the UK-Israel Trade and Partnership Agreement signed in 2019 (in force January 2021) has no binding safeguards for protecting human and labour rights, nor enforcement mechanisms or sanctions if there are violations of rights.

The UK has consistently sold arms to Israel, despite the illegal occupation and its own guidance relating to the overseas business risk and the OPT. The guidance emphasises that involvement in business activities could have reputational implications as well as leading to possible abuses of individual's rights.²² Yet between 2014 and 2018, the UK issued Single

Individual Export Licenses (SIELs) for arms sales to Israel to a value of £361m, demonstrating a lack of policy coherence.²³

International law is clear. Israeli settlements are illegal and a war crime, they are discriminatory and give rise to human rights abuses. Business activity within the settlements helps to legitimise the illegal situation and maintain and expand the settlements. The UN Guiding Principles for Businesses and Human Rights clearly state that "business enterprises should respect human rights" and this is expected wherever they operate, including in situations of conflict.²⁴ Companies are therefore expected to carry out human rights due diligence, not only on their directly controlled operations, but on all their sub-contractors and suppliers.

Our work and trade union solidarity

The TUC works closely with affiliates and the ITUC in support of justice for Palestine. Affiliates collaborate with like-minded civil society organisations and have supported campaigns and projects that build capacity in organising and collective bargaining and help increase workers' knowledge and understanding of their rights. Through policy, advocacy and campaigns, the ITUC seeks to improve working conditions for Palestinians and promote peace, while global union federations also run projects in support of strengthening Palestinian workers' rights.

In 2020, the TUC passed a motion stating full opposition to the Israeli government's stated intention to officially annex parts of the West Bank in violation of international law, with such a move being another significant step in the creation of a system of apartheid, and calls to action. Whilst the TUC cannot make a legal judgement on the issue of apartheid, it is important that we root our language in international law. We recognise the use of the term 'apartheid' brings challenges when it is used as a comparator to South Africa. We believe we must use language carefully and not risk trivialising the critical situation for Palestinians.

TUC policy calls for:

- respect for all Palestinian rights, including the right to collective self-determination and the right to return
- an end to the illegal occupation and a halt to further annexation
- support for a just, comprehensive and lasting peace that is consistent with international law and based on a two-state solution, which must promote equality and respect for human and labour rights.

We call on the UK government to publicly support the same goals and to recognise the State of Palestine.

UK trade policy and business should ensure Palestinian labour and human rights are protected and respected, and support an end to the occupation. The TUC calls for an ethical policy on all UK trade with Israel which must include:

• suspension of the UK-Israel Trade and Partnership Agreement, which replicates the EU-Israel Association Agreement, until Palestinian rights are respected

- a ban on trade with the illegal settlements, and requiring mandatory labelling of food produced in illegal settlements in line with the European Court of Justice ruling in 2019
- an end to arms trading with Israel and to military collaboration.

We also encourage affiliates, employers and pension funds to disinvest from, and boycott the goods of companies that profit from illegal settlements, the occupation and construction of the wall.

Section One

Occupation and annexation

The TUC opposes the illegal military occupation of Palestinian territories which denies Palestinians their basic rights. In this section we set out how Palestinian territory is illegally occupied, and the impact of this on the human rights of Palestinian people. We then look at the continued threat of annexation, and lastly consider the debate over how the internationally defined crime of apartheid may be being committed within Palestinian territory.

The illegal occupation of Palestinian territory

Israel's occupation of Palestinian territories has continued for over 50 years in violation of international law and relevant UN resolutions.²⁵ UN Security Resolution 242 (1967) emphasizes "the inadmissibility of the acquisition of territory by war" and calls for the withdrawal of Israel from territories occupied in the 1967 conflict.²⁶ The unilateral annexation of East Jerusalem by Israel in 1980 was condemned by the UN Security Council (Resolution 476) with measures to alter the status of Jerusalem deemed "null and void".²⁷

According to the ILO the Oslo Accords, which have steered Palestinian-Israeli relations towards a two-state solution since the 1990s, are now losing their capacity to serve as reference points, because for many years "facts have been created, ranging from settlements to shifting borders and restrictions on movement and trade" that contradict decisions in the Oslo and Paris Protocols.²⁸

In 2016, the UN Security Council reaffirmed a number of existing relevant resolutions and stated that the establishment of settlements in the occupied Palestinian territories (OPT) including East Jerusalem, by Israel has "no legal validity and constitutes a flagrant violation under international law and a major obstacle to the achievement of the two-state solution and a just, lasting and comprehensive peace". The resolution also called on Israel to abide by its legal obligations under the Fourth Geneva Convention relative to the Protection of Civilian Persons in Time of War.²⁹

Palestinians experience grave human rights violations

Despite numerous resolutions and calls for Israel to respect international law, a 2019 report by the UN's special rapporteur on the situation of human rights in the Palestinian territories occupied since 1967, states that the human rights situation "deteriorates day-by-day".³⁰ Collectively, UN rapporteurs have referred to human rights violations in the occupied Palestinian territories that include labour exploitation, land confiscation, home demolitions, forcible population transfer, excessive use of force and torture, lack of freedom of movement, the targeting of women activists, and the imposition of a two-tier system of political, legal, social, cultural and economic rights based on ethnicity and nationality.³¹ In 2018, Israel passed the 'Basic Law: Israel as the Nation State of the Jewish People'. This law recognised Israel as "the national home of the Jewish people", and enshrined that the right to exercise national self-determination in the state is "unique to the Jewish people".³² Concerns about the possible discriminatory effects of the law on non-Jewish people, have been raised by the UN Committee on Economic, Social and Cultural Rights, which also expressed concern that recognising the development of Jewish settlement as a national value, could further deteriorate the economic, social and cultural rights situation in the occupied territories. The committee called on the Israeli state to repeal the law or bring it into line with the relevant Covenant, and increase efforts to eliminate discrimination faced by non-Jews.³³

In the first six months of 2020, 21 Palestinians were killed by Israeli Occupying Forces (IOF) with at least half being shot, according to Palestinian human rights organisation, AI Haq.³⁴ In August 2020, Israel bombed targets in Gaza by air and from the ground, injuring five Palestinians, including four children. Palestinian rocket fire injured one Israeli and damaged two homes, and in an Israeli airstrike near a residential compound in al-Bureij refugee camp, two children were injured and four homes damaged, according to Israeli human rights organisation B'Tselem.³⁵ Abuses by the IOF documented by AI Haq in 2019 included house raids, arrests, beatings, torture, and denial of permits to receive medical treatment, with an accompanying escalation of settler attacks on Palestinians.³⁶ An average of 198 Palestinian children were in Israeli military detention in 2019, with the most common charge being stone throwing.³⁷

The settlements and wall violate international law

An occupying power is prohibited from transferring parts of its own civilian population into the territory it occupies, and from forcibly transferring and deporting protected persons from occupied territory under The Fourth Geneva Convention (Article 49).³⁸ Under the Rome Statute, this also constitutes a war crime.³⁹ Yet, around 600,000 Israeli settlers now live in the occupied West Bank, with about one-third in East Jerusalem.⁴⁰ There are approximately 250 settlements. The extensive appropriation of land and the appropriation and destruction of property required to build and expand settlements breaches international humanitarian law.⁴¹

All of Israel's settlements are in Area C⁴² of the occupied West Bank, where Israel retains near exclusive control, including over law enforcement, planning and construction. Demolitions of Palestinian structures have continued even during the coronavirus pandemic, with the majority of demolitions being in Area C. As of October 2020, 557 structures⁴³ had been demolished and 747 Palestinians had been displaced. Demolitions can include livelihood structures. Although demolitions can result from a lack of Israeliissued permits, in reality, these are "nearly impossible to obtain", according to the UN Office for the Coordination of Humanitarian Affairs.⁴⁴

Area C remains largely inaccessible to Palestinians, but contains the majority of the occupied Palestinian territory's agricultural land and water resources.⁴⁵ Mechanisms of land control in the OPT used by Israel include declaring large areas of land as military zones, state land and nature reserves and a discriminatory zoning and planning regime.⁴⁶



Israeli settlements in the West Bank are built in violation of international law. Photographer: JB Russell/Panos

In 2018, UN resolution 73/255 reaffirmed the principle of the permanent sovereignty of peoples under foreign occupation over their natural resources. International law strictly regulates what an occupying power may do with the resources of an occupied territory.⁴⁷ The resolution deplored the detrimental impact of the Israeli settlements on Palestinian natural resources "especially as a result of the confiscation of land and the forced diversion of water resources, including the destruction of orchards and crops and the seizure of water wells by Israeli settlers, and of the dire socioeconomic consequences".

The separation barrier, or wall, built mainly in the occupied West Bank stretches over 700km and encompasses around 80 per cent of the settlers living in the OPT. In 2004, the International Court of Justice advised that the construction of the wall in the OPT, including East Jerusalem was contrary to international law. The court also observed that construction of the wall and its associated regime created a "fait accompli" on the ground that could become permanent and tantamount to de facto annexation. Along with other measures put in place by the Israeli government, the court concluded that the wall would severely restrict the ability of the Palestinian people to exercise their right to self-determination.⁴⁸

Settlement expansion also continues, and in October 2020, Israeli authorities agreed to advance more than 4,900 new settlement building units in the occupied West Bank. This move has been condemned by the UK, France, Italy, Spain and Germany in a joint statement. This emphasised that the expansion of settlements violated international law and imperilled the viability of a two-state solution and called for an immediate halt to settlement construction, as well as to evictions and demolitions of Palestinian structures in East Jerusalem and the West Bank.⁴⁹

The increasing fragmentation of the West Bank, including East Jerusalem, through various policies and practices including settlements, the wall, checkpoints, zoning and planning restrictions may "irreversibly disrupt the contiguity of the West Bank, undermining a just and sustainable two-state solution" argued a former UN special rapporteur in 2014.⁵⁰

The blockade of Gaza – a form of collective punishment

In Gaza, the illegal blockade of land, sea and air has continued for over a decade and according the UN's special rapporteur, amounts to a form of collective punishment that is

In Gaza "enjoyment of the most basic socio-economic rights – employment, healthcare, housing, food, water and sanitation are a luxury in scarce supply, if at all".

(UN's special rapporteur, 2018)

prohibited under international law.⁵¹ The blockade controls and restricts the movement of people and goods in and out of Gaza, resulting in economic suffocation, social and familial isolation from the outside world, and worsening living and health standards.⁵² The economy is in near collapse, and the "enjoyment of the most basic socioeconomic rights – employment, healthcare, housing, food, water and sanitation are a luxury in scarce supply, if at all". Some 95 per cent of the population of Gaza are without access to

clean water.⁵³ In 2018, electricity was supplied for only about 6-7 hours a day which is inadequate to maintain large-scale manufacturing or commerce.⁵⁴

The coronavirus pandemic has further exposed the impacts of the occupation and blockade on the lives of Palestinians. The World Health Organisation risk assessment remains high for the occupied Palestinian territories and cases are continuing to rise. WHO has provided medical equipment and supplies, ventilators, PPE and training for healthcare workers in Gaza.⁵⁵ Physicians for Human Rights Israel contends that the Palestinian healthcare system bears the burden of budget shortages, with the separation between East Jerusalem, Gaza, and the West Bank, and restrictions that Israel imposes on the freedom of movement of patients, medical equipment, and healthcare personnel structurally impeding its proper functioning.⁵⁶

In March 2019, Palestinians in Gaza marked the first anniversary of the 'Great March of Return' demonstrations near the Israeli border. Thousands of Palestinians participated in weekly protests demanding an end to the blockade and the right of return of Palestinian refugees to the land that was lost in the 1948 Nakba. Israeli forces responded forcefully to the weekly demonstrations and in the 12 months after the demonstrations started 275 Palestinians were killed and more than 30,000 injured.⁵⁷

Annexation

It is against this backdrop of violations of international law and human rights and a global pandemic that the Israeli government has threatened to officially and unilaterally annex parts of the West Bank and most of the Jordan Valley, extending its sovereignty to cover

the 235-plus illegal Israeli settlements in the West Bank.⁵⁸ Annexation was endorsed by outgoing President Trump in his Peace to Prosperity Plan⁵⁹ which proposed violating international law, including the right to return.

The TUC⁶⁰ and ITUC⁶¹ criticised the proposals in the Trump administration's plan – with the ITUC stating that "Peace can only be achieved through negotiations based on international law, not through imposing a completely unacceptable one-sided formula on the Palestinian people. The US proposals would severely damage prospects for a just and peaceful settlement." Fifty former foreign ministers and leaders across Europe jointly stated that the Peace to Prosperity Plan envisages the formalisation of the current reality in the occupied Palestinian territory "in which two people are living side by side without equal rights. Such an outcome has characteristics similar to apartheid – a term we don't use lightly".⁶²

Despite claims by outgoing President Trump and others that annexation is off the table as part of Israel's agreement with the United Arab Emirates,⁶³ Prime Minister Netanyahu has stated that, "There is no change in my plan to apply sovereignty, our sovereignty, in Judea and Samaria, in full coordination with the US. I'm committed to it, this hasn't changed..... This issue remains on the table."⁶⁴

The annexation plans have been widely condemned, including by over 130 UK parliamentarians,⁶⁵ 47 UN experts, ⁶⁶ and over 1,000 MEPs.⁶⁷ The TUC has written to the secretary of state for foreign and commonwealth affairs stressing that annexation would be in violation of international law and have a significant impact on Palestinian workers and communities. We called on the UK government to publicly state that annexation would be met with serious consequences if it goes ahead, while supporting genuine efforts towards peace based on a two-state solution.

Some have called for sanctions in response to the threat of official annexation. The UN's special rapporteur on human rights in the Palestinian territory has called on the international community to "review its extensive menu of sanctions and countermeasures to stem this march towards further illegality".⁶⁸ In May 2020, nearly 130 British politicians wrote to the Prime Minister and foreign secretary urging them to make clear publicly to Israel that any annexation of occupied Palestinian territory "will have severe consequences including sanctions".⁶⁹

It is argued that the West Bank has already been annexed de-facto, with Israel using the area as its sovereign territory, which is reflected in its policies and practices such as building settlements and supporting infrastructure, and extending many Israeli laws to settlers and settlements.⁷⁰

Considering the crime of apartheid in Israel

There is a growing body of analysis examining the crime of apartheid in the context of Israel and the occupation of Palestinian territory. Such analyses have drawn on the Rome Statute – which defines apartheid as a crime against humanity, the International Convention on the Elimination of All Forms of Racial Discrimination, and the International Convention on the Suppression and Punishment of the Crime of Apartheid. In this final convention, the crime of apartheid refers to specific inhumane acts "committed for the purpose of establishing and maintaining domination by one racial group of persons over any other racial group of persons and systematically oppressing them".⁷¹

Analysis by some experts appears to show that there are apartheid policies and practices being committed in the occupied Palestinian territory. For example, in 2013, legal experts concluded: "On the basis of the systemic and institutionalized nature of the racial domination that exists, there are indeed strong grounds to conclude that a system of apartheid has developed in the occupied Palestinian territory."⁷²

In 2014, the report of the UN special rapporteur on the situation of human rights in the Palestinian territories occupied since 1967 examined acts that potentially amounted to segregation and apartheid. Evidence cited included that relating to the denial of the right to life and liberty, and measures calculated to prevent participation in the political, social, economic and cultural life of the country and the full development of a racial group – with reference to violations of the right to work, to freedom of movement, to education, to freedom of expression and assembly. The report concluded that, "through prolonged occupation, with the practices and policies which appear to constitute apartheid and segregation, ongoing expansion of settlements, and the continual construction of the wall arguably amounting to de facto annexation of part of the occupied Palestinian territory, the denial by Israel of the right to self-determination of the Palestinian people is evident."⁷³

TUC policy

The TUC has long-standing policy that supports Palestinian rights by calling for an end to the illegal occupation, the blockade of Gaza, settlement expansion, construction of the wall/separation barrier, and condemns the discriminatory Nation State Law, cuts to the United Nations Relief and Works Agency for Palestine Refugees (UNWRA), and the Peace to Prosperity Plan. These policies speak out in support of an inclusive peace process, based on a two-state solution that delivers security for Israel and Palestine, and which respects the right to collective self-determination and the right to return (for example see Congress 2010 Composite Motion 18,⁷⁴ Congress 2012 Motion 76,⁷⁵ General Council Statement 2014,⁷⁶ Congress 2018 Emergency Motion 4,⁷⁷ and Congress 2019 Motion 75⁷⁸).

In 2020, the TUC passed a motion stating full opposition to the Israeli government's intention to annex parts of the West Bank in violation of international law, with such a move being another significant step in the creation of a system of apartheid and calls to action.⁷⁹

Whilst the TUC cannot make a legal judgement on this, it is important that we root our language in international law. We recognise the use of the term 'apartheid' brings challenges when it is used as a comparator to South Africa. We believe we must use language carefully and not risk trivialising the critical situation for Palestinians.

In accordance with the motion, the TUC is calling on the UK government to take firm and decisive measures, including sanctions, to ensure that Israel stops or reverses the illegal annexation, ends the occupation of the West Bank and blockade of Gaza, and respects the right of Palestinian refugees to return (see Annex A for the 2020 Congress motion and explanation).

Section Two

The impact of the occupation on workers and livelihoods

This section looks at the impacts of the occupation on the Palestinian labour market, systemic abuses of Palestinian workers' rights in the settlements and Israel, and addresses the impacts of the Covid-19 pandemic on workers. Finally, we look at how Israel's control over Palestinian natural resources limits economic opportunities and access to jobs.

Access to decent work denied

The ongoing occupation has severely impacted Palestinian livelihoods and the Palestinian economy, according to a 2019 report by the ILO Director General. Settlements and their expansion, coupled with restrictions on Palestinian movement and access to resources, infrastructure and markets are central features of the occupation. Restrictions include checkpoints, roadblocks, metal gates, trenches and the separation barrier. These factors impact on Palestinian's social and economic rights including the right to non-discrimination in pursuit of an adequate standard of living and decent work.⁸⁰

The United Nations Conference on Trade and Development (UNCTAD) estimates that the fiscal cost of occupation for the Palestinian people over the period 2000-2017 is US\$48bn (£36bn) and these costs constrain the capacity of the State of Palestine to achieve the UN Sustainable Development Goals. A simulation by UNCTAD which assumes that this money was instead injected through expansionary fiscal policies indicates that the economy would have generated two million job opportunities over this period, an average of 111,000 per year.⁸¹

The labour market – bleak prospects for Palestinian workers

Young women face particularly bleak employment prospects in the occupied Palestinian territories and according to the ILO "nowhere in the world does the labour market situation of women appear so dire"

(ILO, 2019)

Palestinian workers often face precarious work, lower wages, unsafe conditions, exploitation, discrimination and have no voice at work. Decent work is denied.

Given the analysis by the ILO and UNCTAD, it is not surprising that unemployment rates are high in the occupied Palestinian territories. In the second quarter of 2020 (April-June), unemployment in Gaza stood at 49 per cent in general and 66 per cent for women. In the West Bank, unemployment for the same period was 15 per cent, and 26 per cent for women.⁸² In Palestine, young women (15-29 years) face particularly bleak employment prospects – with 66 per cent out of the labour force in this period.⁸³ According to the ILO, "nowhere in the world does the labour market situation of women appear so dire".⁸⁴

Economic decline is evident, particularly in Gaza. In 2018 alone, construction employment declined by over 45 per cent with a loss of more than 7,300 jobs, the services sector saw a reduction of over 6 per cent with the loss of 9,400 jobs and 13 per cent of manufacturing jobs were lost in Gaza. In the West Bank, agriculture, transport, storage and communications experienced job losses in 2018, and the manufacturing sector remained weak.⁸⁵

Wages in Gaza are 36 per cent lower than those of employees in the West Bank, and over 70 per cent lower than average Palestinian wages in Israel and the settlements. Labour markets in Employment opportunities are limited for Palestinian jobseekers across all educational groups. Main shares in employment by sector:

West Bank: services/other branches (31%); commerce/restaurants/hotels (21%); manufacturing/mining and quarrying (16%); construction (19%).

Gaza: services/other branches (56%); commerce/restaurants/hotels (20%).

(Labour Force Survey, Apr-Jun 2020)

Israel and the West Bank remain closed to workers in Gaza. Livelihoods for Gazans depend heavily on resources available to the UNWRA, Palestinian Authority wages, and remittances.⁸⁶ In 2018, the US ended all funding to UNRWA (US\$359m in 2017). Poverty is pervasive in Gaza with 53 per cent of the population surviving on less than US\$4.60 a day, and 68 per cent of households severely or moderately food insecure.⁸⁷

Palestinian women earn on average 25 per cent less per day than their male counterparts, mainly due to the large wage gap faced by women in the Palestinian private sector and the lack of employment opportunities for Palestinian women in Israel. In the OPT, more women work in the public sector, where the wage gaps are smaller and favour women. However, in the Palestinian private sector, women earn an average of 20 per cent less than men, and nearly 60 per cent earn less than the minimum wage.⁸⁸

The potential of the private sector in Palestine to create jobs remains low, with the investment climate constrained and restrictions imposed by the occupation. The majority of private sector firms are small and evidence suggests there is a significant amount of non-compliance with labour legislation.⁸⁹ Analysis by the Palestinian Bureau of Statistics for the second quarter of 2020 shows that 34 per cent of wage employees in the private sector earned less than the minimum wage of 1,450 Israeli New Shekels (ILS), and 46 per cent were hired without a contract.⁹⁰ This no doubt leaves workers vulnerable to exploitation and with little or no access to social protection.

The separation barrier has also had an impact on lives and livelihoods. Palestinian communities affected by the wall experience restrictions in their freedom of movement. They are required to have Israeli-issued permits, which involve complex bureaucratic processes, in order to enter or exit the seam zone⁹¹ to carry out everyday activities like leaving and returning from work, accessing farm land beyond the Israeli-controlled gates and accessing various public services.⁹²

Labour rights abuses in the settlements and Israel

Poor working conditions and employment prospects in the occupied Palestinian territory leave workers with little choice other than to seek work in the illegal settlements and Israel.

In 2019, approximately 110,000 Palestinian workers from the OPT were employed in Israel, mostly in the field of construction, as well as many in agriculture, industry, and service jobs. And an additional 23,000 were employed in the Israeli settlements.⁹³ On average, Palestinian workers in Israel were paid 2.3–2.6 per cent less than Israeli workers in the same sector in 2017.⁹⁴

According to Human Rights Watch, Israel's discriminatory policies in planning and zoning, the allocation of land, natural resources, incentives and access to utilities and infrastructure have benefited business, forced the displacement of Palestinians and placed Palestinians at a disadvantage in comparison with settlers. Discriminatory restrictions on Palestinians have left many dependent on jobs in the settlements, where they are a source of cheap labour.⁹⁵

Work in the settlements is often informal and unregulated, and concentrated in agriculture, industrial undertakings and construction. Women predominantly work in agriculture and industry, though some are engaged in domestic work in private homes. Workers report being paid below the minimum wage, unregulated hiring, and incidences of child labour especially in agriculture. Unregulated work of Palestinians in the settlements appears to exist alongside regulated or semi-regulated employment of Israeli and foreign workers.⁹⁶ Many workers receive no wage slips, are not covered by workplace accident insurance, receive few benefits such as pension contributions or sick pay, and have no employment security.⁹⁷



Illegal settlement farms dominate the Jordan Valley. Photo: UNISON

Settlement businesses often exploit the legal ambiguity of settlements under Israeli law to employ Palestinian workers under worse conditions than they would be able to employ Israelis. A decision by the Supreme Court in 2007 held that Israeli labour law should apply

to Palestinians working in the settlements, making it possible for Palestinian workers to file complaints when violations occur. However, if workers complain, they are vulnerable to retaliation because of their dependence on employers for Israeli issued work permits. Abuses of labour rights persist because virtually no labour inspections take place in the settlements to enforce labour laws.⁹⁸

A work permit system that exploits Palestinians

In order to work in Israel and the settlements, Palestinian workers also require a permit, which is issued on behalf of an employer and binds or fetters Palestinian workers to an employer. The system of binding workers to a particular employer has created an industry of paying for permits, also known as brokerage fees. The majority of Palestinians working in Israel are employed through a labour broker and have no fixed contract with Israeli employers. By avoiding contractual agreements, employers attempt to illegally avoid responsibility for workers' rights and working conditions and arbitrarily reduce or withhold wages.⁹⁹

In 2019, the ITUC wrote to the Prime Minister of the Palestinian National Authority welcoming the cabinet's decision to ban the practice of labour brokers, acknowledging that half of Palestinian workers spend between a third and a half of their wages to obtain a permit to work in Israel. The ITUC stressed that permit brokerage violates the agreement signed between the Palestine Liberation Organisation and the Israeli government, and also promotes forms of modern slavery, which contravenes international human and labour rights standards. The letter proposed that the decision to abolish the labour brokerage system be the first step in a comprehensive reform aimed at breaking labour bonding.¹⁰⁰

Finally, the Israeli government has announced¹⁰¹ it will improve the permit system, so that Palestinian construction workers in Israel will receive their permits directly. This is a step forward and should establish a direct employment relationship between workers and employers, rather than through labour brokers, but enforcement will be vital. More information about this policy change is needed. There should be a system where every worker is treated fairly and has decent work. Some 28,600 Palestinians in the Israeli labour market do not have permits and experience greater levels of exploitation. If wages are withheld or they are injured, they have no recourse to official support.¹⁰²

Even when Palestinian workers have a permit to work in Israel, their movement is strictly regulated. Kav LaOved, an NGO that provides a workers' hotline service in Israel, reports that Palestinian workers are driven to their worksite by the employer after passing through a checkpoint (and driven back there at the end of the day), they are not allowed to leave the bounds of the worksite, and even workers who stay overnight in Israel with a permit are not allowed to leave their workplace-residence, including to see a doctor. Employers are therefore seen as "the long-arm of the authorities and deny them any free movement".¹⁰³

Wage deductions and freedom of association denied

Palestinian workers in Israel cannot join a union of their choosing, unlike their Israeli colleagues. This violates ILO Convention 087 (Freedom of Association and Protection of the Right to Organise). Palestinian workers in Israel have to pay their union dues to the

Histadrut, and 50 per cent of fees are transferred to the Palestine General Federation of Trade Unions (PGFTU), which has responsibility for delivering services to workers.

Palestinian trade unions are prevented from acting legally in the settlements, because these are under Israeli control.¹⁰⁴

The Israeli government imposes a series of tax deductions on Palestinian workers in Israel, deducting large contributions from their wages while providing no protection or rights in return. Israel deducts an 'equalisation tax', income tax and health insurance. According to the Paris Protocol, these taxes should be transferred to the PA monthly. However, Israel regularly withholds large sums of these taxes; between 2006-2013 Israel retained a total of €164m of 'equalisation taxes'.¹⁰⁵ For more information about tripartite social dialogue, see for example, ILO Reports of the Director General, The situation of workers of the occupied Arab territories <u>https://www.ilo.org/wcmsp5/groups</u> /public/---ed_norm/--relconf/documents/meetingdocume nt/wcms_745966.pdf

https://reliefweb.int/sites/reliefweb.i nt/files/resources/wcms_705016.pdf

Evidence indicates that the Israeli government's Pay Department is not fulfilling its role of guaranteeing Palestinian workers' entitlement to benefits. Incorrect calculations resulted in some workers being paid below the minimum wage, and in cases, pay slips have not recorded accurate information about social benefits such as sick pay and overtime payments.¹⁰⁶

Having access to sick pay is a challenge for Palestinian workers. In 2015, 53m ILS was paid into the fund for sickness benefit that is managed by the Payment Department. However, only 878 workers out of 55,000 exercised the right to payment of sick leave. This has been attributed to the lengthy and complex process required to receive it, and a lack of information about the benefit and how it can be accessed. Even though more than half of workers injured in the construction industry are Palestinian, only 5 per cent of construction workers who received workplace injury payments are Palestinian. The State Comptroller has found that around 168m ILS collected for sick leave benefits was not used for this purpose and was transferred to the coffers of the Israeli Ministry of Finance.¹⁰⁷

Unsafe working conditions

To access work in Israel and the settlements, Palestinian workers have to use crossings and are often required to queue for hours. An increasing number of Palestinian workers are employed in construction. Numbers of fatalities and injuries on Israeli construction sites are higher than many other developed countries. In 2019, there were 47 deaths in construction, 31 of which were Palestinians.¹⁰⁸ Reasons for these injuries and fatalities include insufficient monitoring and sanctioning of violations, and fatigue as many Palestinian workers are tired when they arrive at work after leaving home in the early hours and due to the exhausting crossing procedures. In November 2018, the Construction and Wood Workers Union signed a new collective agreement that establishes a joint safety committee in support of training for workers and access to adequate PPE.¹⁰⁹



Palestinian workers face unsafe conditions in Israel's construction industry. Photo: ILO

Covid-19 and Palestinian workers

In the context of the Covid-19 pandemic, 52 per cent of workers did not receive their salary/wages during the lockdown period, and 25 per cent received only partial wages. Nearly two-thirds of households are worried about not having enough food. ¹¹⁰

According to the PGFTU, 75,000 workers have been arbitrarily dismissed. By April 2020, over 453,000 Palestinian workers had lost their jobs and over 115,000 families were pushed into poverty.¹¹¹

In March 2020, the PGFTU signed a tripartite agreement to ensure payment of salaries of West Bank workers during the lockdown in March and April. However, the union federation reports that it received a number of complaints from workers saying employers did not pay their salaries as per the agreement.

In response to the lack of social protection for workers, the PGFTU financed a fund to support the incomes of 35,000 workers providing 750 ILS (approx. £170) per worker. Food aid has also been provided to 14,000 workers by the PGFTU, but an estimated 200,000 workers also need support. The PGFTU has raised with the PA the situation faced by at least 400,000 workers who are unemployed, but it contends that the PA's focus has mainly been on securing wages in the public sector.

Occupational health and safety violations have continued and the PGFTU has recorded a number of cases involving employers in the West Bank and Israel.

Further outstanding issues are the non-payment of tax deductions that Israel owes to Palestine. The PGFTU has called for the PA and Israeli finance ministers to meet to resolve this issue.

The mistreatment of workers by Israel's security forces continues and the PGFTU has reportedly filmed what it describes as brutal and inhumane treatment of two young Palestinian workers who were beaten on their way to work. The PGFTU reports that the Israel Defence Forces continue to harass Palestinian workers.¹¹²

Israel's control of natural resources in the occupied Palestinian territory

The potential contribution of natural resources to the Palestinian economy is large, but Israel uses these natural resources in the OPT as a sovereign country would use its own assets in violation of international law.¹¹³ This can be seen in the case of quarrying, use of Dead Sea resources and farming, for example, and further restricts Palestinians' economic opportunities and access to work.

Since 1967, Israel has unlawfully appropriated vast portions of Palestinian land in the occupied Dead Sea area primarily to establish settlements and through these exert firm control over the region, including over its natural resources, according to Al Haq. Through the implementation of harsh restrictions on planning and movement, Israeli authorities have severely limited the ability of Palestinians to use and access their land and other natural resources in the region. The presence of settlers who directly utilise and profit from the Dead Sea wealth has severely exacerbated this situation and contributed to the over exploitation of the area.¹¹⁴

Stone and marble quarrying is one of the most important industries in Palestine, employing around 13,500 people.¹¹⁵ However, Israeli restrictions prevent Palestinian businesses from realising the full potential of this industry, and according to the Palestinian Union of Stone and Marble, Israel has refused to issue any new permits to Palestinian businesses for quarrying in Area C since 1994.¹¹⁶ According to the Israeli human rights organisation, Yesh Din, Israel has an explicit and direct economic interest in increasing the number of quarries in the West Bank. Between 2009 and 2015, the Civil Administration received over 285m ILS worth of royalties from quarries in Area C of the West Bank.¹¹⁷

The import of produce grown on Palestinian land using Palestinian natural resources finances the settlement enterprise and keeps the settlements as a viable economic option for the Israeli state. But at the same time, this hinders Palestinian economic development and access to decent jobs, forcing Palestinians to work as cheap labour for Israeli settler industries in, as described, precarious and exploitable conditions. This is particularly evident in the Jordan Valley, where Palestinian farmers have lost over 98 per cent of productivity due to Israeli occupation policies – forcing them to relocate to urban areas in Areas A and B, or to work as cheap labour in the settler industries in the region.¹¹⁸



The blockade has decimated the Gazan fishing industry. Photo: ILO

In Gaza, the blockade places significant restrictions on Palestinians' use of resources. Gaza has rich farmland and 40km of coastline, yet poverty rates are high. Since imposing the blockade, Israel has repeatedly changed the permitted fishing zone, which has harmed the livelihoods of Gazan fishermen, 95 per cent of whom now live below the poverty line.¹¹⁹ According to B'Tselem, the Israeli navy routinely takes action against fishermen on various grounds including for allegedly sailing beyond the permitted area. Fishermen have been shot and killed by the navy and dozens injured with rubber bullets, they may be arrested or have their fishing boats confiscated. This has contributed to the collapse of the sector.¹²⁰

TUC policy and action

The TUC promotes respect for Palestinian workers' rights through our advocacy and campaigning work, and is exploring projects to further support Palestinian workers' rights.

Section Three

Trade, business and human rights

The UK carries out significant trade with Israel, but to date has not used this relationship to try to ensure adherence to human and workers' rights. This section examines this trading relationship and addresses business complicity in the occupation and Palestinian human rights violations. It then provides examples of ethical business decisions and companies being held to account. Finally, it looks at local government pension schemes and the option to invest to promote peace.

UK trade with Israel ignores violations of Palestinian rights

The Trade and Partnership Agreement signed between the UK and Israel (in force January 2021) has no binding safeguards for protecting human and labour rights. According to the continuity trade agreement signed between the UK and Israel, the total trade in goods and services between the two countries was £3.9bn and involved approximately 10,000 UK VAT registered companies in 2017.¹²¹ Forty per cent of this trade involved medium-large businesses. Goods and services traded include vehicles, railway stock, mechanical devices, pharmaceutical products, transport, and travel.¹²²

The current minister of state for trade policy has stated that "throughout the continuity trade deal programme that there will be no diminution of UK standards, and that also applies to human rights.... we are a world leader in ensuring and guaranteeing human rights".¹²³

However, the Trade and Partnership Agreement¹²⁴ signed between the UK and Israel, in force from January 2021, has no binding safeguards for protecting human and labour rights, nor enforcement mechanisms or sanctions if there are violations of rights.

Despite the illegal occupation, Campaign Against the Arms Trade states that the UK has consistently sold arms to Israel – prompting questions about being a world leader in ensuring and guaranteeing human rights. UK arms exports include equipment and technology, especially for aircraft and radar systems. In addition, component parts from the UK go into US-built equipment destined for Israel, which has been used to bomb Palestinian towns and villages. Between 2014 and 2018, the UK issued Single Individual Export Licenses (SIELs) for arms sales to Israel to a value of £361m¹²⁵

The UK government sets out clear guidance relating to the overseas business risk in the OPT advising that "financial transactions, investments, purchases, procurements as well as other economic activities (including in services like tourism) in Israeli settlements or

benefiting Israeli settlements, entail legal and economic risks stemming from the fact that the Israeli settlements, according to international law, are built on occupied land and are not recognised as a legitimate part of Israel's territory". The guidance emphasises that involvement in business activities could have reputational implications as well as possible abuses of individual's rights.¹²⁶

Selling arms to Israel as an occupying power while warning business about the risks of doing business in the OPT reflects a lack of policy coherence on the part of the UK government, or an unwillingness to recognise the human rights impacts of its own trading relationship. All states are at all times bound to respect, protect, promote and fulfil the human rights enshrined in international legal instruments to which they are parties, as well as those human rights that are considered part of customary international law.¹²⁷

Mandatory labelling of settlement produce

The Trade and Partnership Agreement between the UK and Israel states that its main aim is to preserve the preferential trading conditions that existed in the EU-Israel Association Agreement.¹²⁸ The EU's position regarding the occupied Palestinian territories is clear: all settlement activity is illegal under international law.¹²⁹ Since 2005, products produced in the Israeli settlements are not entitled to benefit from preferential tariff treatment under the EU-Israel Association Agreement.

The UK government has, however, only issued voluntary guidelines related to labelling produce from the Israeli settlements. In 2019, the European Court of Justice ruled that food produced in the Israeli settlements in the OPT must indicate that they originate from a settlement and not a "product of Israel".¹³⁰

Business complicity in the occupation and human rights violations

The UN Guiding Principles for Business and Human Rights clearly state that "business enterprises should respect human rights" and this is expected wherever they operate, including in situations of conflict. The obligations exist independently of states' abilities and/or willingness to fulfil their own human rights obligations, and exist over and above compliance with national laws and regulations protecting human rights. Addressing adverse human rights impacts requires taking adequate measures for their prevention, mitigation, and mediation.¹³¹

Business enterprises should respect human rights, wherever they operate, including in situations of conflict.

Companies are therefore expected to carry out human rights due diligence, not only on their directly controlled operations, but on all their sub-contractors and suppliers. Amnesty International states that a due diligence framework applied to business activities in or with Israeli settlements in the OPT can be useful in helping companies to determine that: the settlements are illegal and a war crime; they are inherently discriminatory and give rise to widespread, systematic and serious human rights violations; business activities in or with the settlements help to normalise and legitimise the illegal situation; and business activities contribute to the settlement economy, and in so doing help maintain, develop and expand the settlements, perpetuating an illegal situation. Amnesty International contends that any basic preliminary risk mapping would show these findings and should be sufficient for any company to reach the conclusion that it cannot do business in or with the settlements in a way that is consistent with international humanitarian law and human rights law.¹³²

In 2013, an independent fact-finding mission to investigate the implications of the Israeli settlements on the civil, political, economic, social and cultural rights of Palestinian people throughout the OPT, including East Jerusalem, found that business enterprises had directly and indirectly enabled, facilitated and profited from the construction and growth of the settlements. Business activities that had raised particular human rights violations concerns included the supply of equipment and materials facilitating the construction and expansion of settlements and the wall; the supply of surveillance and identification equipment for settlements, the wall and checkpoints directly linked with the settlements; the supply of equipment for the demolition of housing and property; and the provision of services and utilities supporting the maintenance and existence of the settlements, such as transport.¹³³

In February 2018, in accordance with UN resolution 31/36,¹³⁴ the UN General Assembly published a database¹³⁵ of business enterprises involved in activities listed in the 2013 fact-finding report (paragraph 96). The UK government opposed the creation of this database.¹³⁶

While the database is a step forward in identifying companies that profit from and help sustain Israel's illegal occupation of Palestinian territory, it is by no means complete, and does not include, for example, the financial sector. UK companies listed are JC Bamford Excavations Ltd; Opodo Ltd; and Greenkote PLC (licensor/franchisor). The list includes a number of well-known companies including Airbnb Inc; Booking.com B.V; Trip Advisor Inc; and also others used in UK government procurement, such as Alstom and Egis Rail.

In 2019, the former UN special rapporteur for the occupied Palestinian territories argued that if statements made by some EU member states (including the UK as a former member) protest the expansion of the settlements and reiterate their illegality, then steps should be taken to ensure that related actions show a genuine commitment to human rights and respect for international law by, for example, ceasing trade with the settlements.¹³⁷

Companies: ethical decisions and accountability

Some companies have taken the decision to end business activities related to the illegal Israeli settlement enterprise. In 2013, Dutch company, Royal HaskoningDHV announced it was terminating a contract with the Jerusalem Municipality to build a waste water treatment plant in Jerusalem. Vitens, another Dutch company, cut ties with Merkorot, the Israeli national water company, citing concerns in relation to adherence to international law. Swedish-Norwegian bank Nordea excluded Cemex from its investment portfolio, due to its extraction of non-renewable natural resources from occupied Palestine.¹³⁸

Other companies have been held to account. In 2015, following successful activism by the Palestinian-led Boycott, Divestment and Sanctions campaign, Veolia completed its withdrawal from the Israeli market with the sale of its last holdings in the Jerusalem Light

Rail.¹³⁹ And following a complaint made by NGO Lawyers for Palestinian Human Rights against G4S PLC, in 2015 the UK's National Contact Point found the company to be in violation of three human rights obligations under the OECD Guidelines for Multinational Enterprises in relation to its involvement with Israel's human rights violations against Palestinians. The complaint focussed on contracts that included servicing and maintaining baggage scanning equipment and metal detectors used at military checkpoints and along the separation barrier.¹⁴⁰

Local government pension schemes can invest to promote peace

In the UK, local government pension scheme funds collectively invest billions in companies complicit in Israel's grave violations of Palestinian human rights. As a result of a successful judicial review brought by the Palestine Solidarity Campaign, the Supreme Court overturned government regulations that banned local government pension schemes (LGPSs) from making investment decisions that differ from government foreign and defence policy, in April 2020. Now local government pension schemes can choose to invest ethically or divest, as long as those decisions do not undermine the pension fund.¹⁴¹ Palestine Solidarity Campaign working with trade unions have set up LGPS Divest which campaigns to ensure that administering authorities implement adequate investment screening and due diligence procedures to guarantee that scheme members' money is not used to support Israel's violations of international law.¹⁴²

TUC policy

The TUC has policy in support of an ethical policy on all UK trade with Israel and has called for the suspension of the EU-Israel Association Agreement until the rights of Palestinians are respected.¹⁴³ This position applies to the Trade and Partnership Agreement signed between the UK and Israel as it substantively replicates the EU-Israel Association Agreement.

We have joined with others in calling on the UK government and EU to immediately end arms trading with Israel including all military industrial collaboration, ¹⁴⁴ and support efforts to stop arms trading with Israel that is used in violation of Palestinian human rights.¹⁴⁵

The TUC has policy to work with affiliates and in alliance to pressure companies complicit in arms trading, the settlements, the occupation and the wall to cease their activities and withdraw from the OPT.¹⁴⁶ TUC policy also supports working with the Palestine Solidarity Campaign to encourage affiliates, employers and pension funds to disinvest from, and boycott the goods of, companies that profit from illegal settlements, the occupation and construction of the wall.¹⁴⁷

Even though the UK has left the European Union, we believe that it should change its policy and require mandatory labelling to help ensure that food products from the illegal settlements are not receiving preferential access while helping to sustain the illegal occupation. Section Four

Our work and trade union solidarity

The TUC works closely with affiliates and the ITUC in support of justice for Palestine. TUC affiliates have, for example, supported campaigns and projects that build capacity in organising and collective bargaining, and help increase workers' knowledge and understanding of their rights. Through advocacy and policy work, the ITUC works to improve working conditions for Palestinians and for peace, while global union federations also run projects in support of strengthening Palestinian workers' rights.

As an organisation, the TUC works to deliver our democratically agreed policies on Palestine set out in this report.

TUC policy calls for:

- respect for all Palestinian rights, including the right to collective self-determination and the right to return
- an end to the illegal occupation and a halt to further annexation
- support for a just, comprehensive and lasting peace that is consistent with international law and based on a two-state solution, which must promote equality and respect for human and labour rights.

We call on the UK government to publicly support the same goals and to recognise the State of Palestine.

UK trade policy and business should ensure Palestinian labour and human rights are protected and respected, and support an end to the occupation. The TUC calls for an ethical policy on all UK trade with Israel which must include:

- suspension of the UK-Israel Trade and Partnership Agreement, which replicates the EU-Israel Association Agreement, until Palestinian rights are respected
- a ban on trade with the illegal settlements, and requiring mandatory labelling of food produced in illegal settlements in line with the European Court of Justice ruling in 2019
- an end to arms trading with Israel and to military collaboration.

We also encourage affiliates, employers and pension funds to disinvest from, and boycott the goods of companies that profit from illegal settlements, the occupation and construction of the wall.

Section Five

Appendix A

Motion 66 – Solidarity with Palestine and resisting annexation

This motion was passed at Congress 2020 with an explanation (see below).

Congress stands united in its full opposition to the Israeli government's declared intention to annex great swathes of the West Bank, a move that is illegal under international law and that makes clear there is no intent on the part of the Israeli government to end the occupation and recognise the Palestinian people's right to self-determination. It will be another significant step in the creation of a system of apartheid.

For too long the international community has stood idly by as the Israeli state has been allowed to carry out its crimes and this cannot be tolerated or accepted any longer. Decisive action is now urgently needed in relation to Israel's illegal actions against the Palestinians.

Congress therefore resolves to:

i. fully support and play an active role in the Palestine Solidarity Campaign's actions to build a broad coalition against the proposed Israeli annexation and to urge all affiliates to do likewise

ii. send a letter to the prime minister demanding that the UK take firm and decisive measures, including sanctions, to ensure that Israel stops or reverses the illegal annexation, ends the occupation of the West Bank and blockade of Gaza, and respects the right of Palestinian refugees to return

iii. communicate its position to all other national trade union centres in the International and European Trade Union Confederations and urge them to join the international campaign to stop annexation and end apartheid.

Explanation

The General Council stands united in condemning the ongoing occupation of Palestinian territories and expansion of illegal Israeli settlements. We condemn the blockade of Gaza and the daily violations of Palestinians' human rights.

Respect for international law and human rights continues to guide our policy on Palestine.

The General Council strongly opposes the Israeli government's stated intention to annex parts of the West Bank, covering all of the 235 plus illegal Israeli settlements, and most of the Jordan Valley. A number of UN rapporteurs have confirmed that such annexation would be in violation of international law and following annexation, violations of Palestinian human rights would intensify. The UN's special rapporteur on human rights in the Palestinian Territory has called on the international community to "review its extensive menu of sanctions and countermeasures to stem this march towards further illegality".

Motion P66 introduces the term apartheid. There is a growing body of analysis examining the crime of apartheid in the context of Israel and the occupation of Palestinian territories. This has drawn on the Rome Statute, which defines apartheid as a crime against humanity, the International Convention on the Suppression and Punishment of the Crime of Apartheid, and the International Convention on the Elimination of All Forms of Racial Discrimination. Some experts find that there are apartheid policies and practices being committed.

In February 2020, in response to the publication of President Trump's Peace to Prosperity plan, an open letter signed by a cross-party group of former foreign ministers stated "The plan envisages a formalisation of the current reality in the occupied Palestinian territory, in which two peoples are living side by side without equal rights. Such an outcome has characteristics similar to apartheid – a term we don't use lightly."

Whilst the TUC cannot make a legal judgement on this, it is important that we root our language in international law. We recognise the use of the term 'apartheid' brings challenges when it is used as a comparator to South Africa. We believe we must use language carefully and not risk trivialising the critical situation for Palestinians.

Congress has longstanding policy in support of a two-state solution based on security for both Israel and Palestine in accordance with UN resolutions and we continue to support efforts to this end. UK trade unions have consistently supported the voices of Palestinian civil society in calling on the international community to take effective measures to stop the illegal annexation and ongoing infringements on human rights in the Palestinian territories.

We will support efforts towards genuine peace, justice and equality for all Palestinians and Israelis, with respect for the collective right to self-determination and the right to return. The General Council extends our solidarity to all workers and our sister and brother trade unionists.

Endnotes

5 The Palestinian Decent Work Programme 2018–2022, International Labour Organisation (2018) https://www.ilo.org/wcmsp5/groups/public/---ed_mas/---

program/documents/genericdocument/wcms_629011.pdf

6 United Nations Conference on Trade and Development https://unctad.org/news/48-billionestimated-revenue-loss-palestine-2000-2017-due-occupation

7 Labour Force Survey (April- June, 2020) Round (Q2/2020) State of Palestine, Palestinian Bureau of Statistics http://www.pcbs.gov.ps/portals/_pcbs/PressRelease/Press_En_9-9-2020-LF-en.pdf ⁸ Ibid

9 Report of the Director-General, The situation of workers of the occupied Arab territories (2019) International Labour Organisation https://www.ilo.org/wcmsp5/groups/public/---ed_norm/--relconf/documents/meetingdocument/wcms_705016.pdf

10 Ibid

11 Labour Force Survey Results (2019) State of Palestine, Palestinian Central Bureau of Statistics http://www.pcbs.gov.ps/portals/_pcbs/PressRelease/Press_En_13-2-2020-LF2019-en.pdf ¹² Report of the ILO Director General (2019) op cit

¹³ To protect rights, Palestinian workers to get Israel permits untied to employers (14 November 2020) The Times of Israel https://www.timesofisrael.com/to-protect-rights-palestinian-workers-to-get-israel-permits-untied-to-employers/

14 Cited in European complicity with Israel's occupation (2019) op cit 15 Ibid

16 The Occupation of Labor, Employment of Palestinian workers in Israel (2018) Ka LaOved https://www.kavlaoved.org.il/en/wp-content/uploads/sites/3/2018/12/final-reduced-report.pdf/ 17 A decade of organising Palestinian workers in the West Bank settlements (2019) WAC MAAN

https://auspalestine.org/2019/07/11/wac-maan-a-decade-of-organising-report/ ¹⁸ State of Palestine, World Statistics Day (2020) Palestinian Bureau of Statistics http://www.science.org/2019/07/11/wac-maan-a-decade-of-organising-report/

http://www.pcbs.gov.ps/portals/ pcbs/PressRelease/Press En 20-10-2020-wsd-en.pdf

¹⁹ Exploited and Essential: Palestinian Labour under Covid-19 (2020) Who Profits?

https://www.whoprofits.org/wp-content/uploads/2020/06/Exploited-and-Essential-Palestinian-Labour-under-Covid-19-2.pdf

¹ Netanyahu: West Bank annexation 'remains on the table' after Israel-UAE deal (August 2020) Jewish News https://jewishnews.timesofisrael.com/netanyahu-west-bank-annexation-remains-on-the-table-after-israel-uae-deal/

² Report of the Special Rapporteur on the situation of human rights in the Palestinian territories occupied since 1967 (15 March 2019)

https://reliefweb.int/sites/reliefweb.int/files/resources/A_HRC_40_73.pdf

³ Israeli annexation of parts of the Palestinian West Bank would break international law – UN experts call on the international community to ensure accountability (2020) United Nations Office Human Rights Office of the High Commissioner

https://www.ohchr.org/EN/NewsEvents/Pages/DisplayNews.aspx?NewsID=25960&LangID=E 4 2020 ITUC Global Rights Index, International Trade Union Confederation https://www.ituc-csi.org/IMG/pdf/ituc_globalrightsindex_2020_en.pdf

²⁰ Database on workplace accidents in construction (2019) Kav LaOved <u>https://www.kavlaoved.org.il/work-accidents-data/</u>

21 Greg Hands MP, Minister of State for Trade Policy (8 October 2020) Hansard https://hansard.parliament.uk/Commons/2020-10-08/debates/C20304AC-1BDF-4F7D-9890-930D640E3559/HumanRightsTradeAgreements#contribution-B00C2BF0-9120-4FAE-A94F-07DD31F7A514

22 Guidance, Overseas Business Risk - The Occupied Palestinian Territories (August 2018) Foreign and Commonwealth Office/Department for International Trade

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/overseas-business-risk-palestinian-

territories/overseas-business-risk-the-occupied-palestinian-territories

23 UK arms sales to Israel, (August 2020) Campaign Against the Arms Trade

https://caat.org.uk/resources/countries/israel/

24 Guiding Principles on Business and Human Rights (2011) United Nations

https://www.ohchr.org/documents/publications/guidingprinciplesbusinesshr_en.pdf²⁵ See e.g UN Security Resolutions 242 (1967)

https://unispal.un.org/unispal.nsf/0/7D35E1F729DF491C85256EE700686136;

476 (1980) https://unispal.un.org/UNISPAL.NSF/0/6DE6DA8A650B4C3B852560DF00663826;

478 (1980) http://unscr.com/en/resolutions/478

²⁶ UN Security Council Resolution 242 op cit

²⁷ UN Security Resolution 476 op cit

https://unispal.un.org/UNISPAL.NSF/0/6DE6DA8A650B4C3B852560DF00663826

²⁸ Report of the Director-General, The situation of workers of the occupied Arab territories

(2019) International Labour Organisation https://www.ilo.org/wcmsp5/groups/public/---

ed_norm/---relconf/documents/meetingdocument/wcms_705016.pdf

²⁹ UN Security Resolution 2334 (2016) https://www.un.org/webcast/pdfs/SRES2334-2016.pdf

³⁰ Report of the Special Rapporteur on the situation of human rights in the Palestinian territories occupied since 1967 (15 March 2019)

https://reliefweb.int/sites/reliefweb.int/files/resources/A_HRC_40_73.pdf

³¹ Israeli annexation of parts of the Palestinian West Bank would break international law – UN experts call on the international community to ensure accountability (2020) United Nations Office Human Rights Office of the High Commissioner

https://www.ohchr.org/EN/NewsEvents/Pages/DisplayNews.aspx?NewsID=25960&LangID=E

³² Final text of Jewish nation-state law, approved by the Knesset early on July 19 (18 July 2018) The Times of Israel https://www.timesofisrael.com/final-text-of-jewish-nation-state-bill-set-tobecome-law/

³³ Committee on Economic, Social and Cultural Rights, Concluding observations on the fourth periodic report of

Israel (18 October 2019) United Nations https://www.un.org/unispal/wp-

content/uploads/2019/11/E.C.12.ISR_.CO_.4-3.pdf

³⁴ Al-Haq Semi-annual Field Report on Human Rights Violations - January-June 2020 (15

October 2020) Al Haq https://www.alhaq.org/monitoring-documentation/17268.html

³⁵ Israeli policy of bombing crowded areas in Gaza takes fresh toll: head injuries in two children and damage to homes (August 2020) B'Tselem https://www.btselem.org/ota

³⁶ Al-Haq Field Report on Human Rights Violations in 2019 (2020) Al Haq

https://www.alhaq.org/monitoring-documentation/16346.html

 ³⁷ Number of Palestinian Children (12-17) in Israeli Military Detention (October 2020) Defence for Children International Palestine https://www.dci-palestine.org/children_in_israeli_detention
³⁸ IV Geneva Convention Relative to the Protection of Civilian Persons in the Time of War (1949) United Nations <u>https://www.un.org/en/genocideprevention/documents/atrocity-</u> crimes/Doc.33 GC-IV-EN.pdf

³⁹ Rome Statue of the International Criminal Court (2002) International Criminal Court

⁴⁰ Background: The Israeli Occupation, Amnesty International

https://www.amnesty.org/en/latest/campaigns/2019/01/chapter-1-

background/#:~:text=Israeli%20settlements%20in%20the%20OPT%20are%20meant%20to%20be%20permanent,have%20fewer%20than%20100%20residents.

⁴¹ Status of the settlements under international law, Amnesty International

https://www.amnesty.org/en/latest/campaigns/2019/01/chapter-3-israeli-settlements-and-international-law/

⁴² The West Bank is divided into three areas A, B and C under different jurisdictions defined by the Oslo Accords. Area A is under Palestinian civil and security control and makes up 18 per cent of the West Bank. Area B is under Israeli security control and Palestinian civil control. Area C is under Israeli security and civil control and accounts for 61 per cent of the West Bank.

⁴³ Demolished structures may be residential, livelihood-related, service-related or part of infrastructure. https://www.ochaopt.org/data/demolition

⁴⁴ Data on demolition and displacement in the West Bank (October 2020) United Nations Office for the Coordination of Humanitarian Affairs, Occupied Palestinian Territory https://www.ochaopt.org/data/demolition

⁴⁵ Report of the Special Rapporteur (15 March 2019) op cit

⁴⁶ European complicity with Israel's occupation: Undermining Palestinian's right to decent work (2019) European Trade Union Network for Justice for Palestine http://www.etun-

palestine.org/site/wp-content/uploads/2019/12/Report-Web.pdf

⁴⁷ UN Resolution 73/255, Permanent sovereignty of the Palestinian people in the Occupied Palestinian Territory, including East Jerusalem, and of the Arab population in the occupied Syrian Golan over their natural resources (20 December 2018) United Nations General Assembly <u>https://www.un.org/unispal/wp-content/uploads/2019/01/A-RES-73-255.pdf</u>

⁴⁸ Legal Consequences of the Construction of a Wall in the Occupied Palestinian Territory (2004) International Court of Justice https://www.icj-cij.org/en/case/131

⁴⁹ Statement from the UK, France, Germany, Italy and Spain on Israel's decision to advance over 4,900 settlement units in the Occupied Palestinian Territories (16 October 2020) UK government https://www.gov.uk/government/news/quint-statement-on-israeli-settlements

 ⁵⁰ Falk R. Report of the Special Rapporteur on situation of human rights in the Palestinian territories occupied since 1967 (13 January 2014) United Nations General Assembly
⁵¹ Report of the Special Rapporteur on the situation of human rights in the Palestinian territories

occupied since 1967 (14 June 2018; Thirty-seventh session, 26 February-23 March 2018) United Nations General Assembly

52 Ibid

⁵³ Report of the Special Rapporteur (15 March 2019) op cit

⁵⁴ Report of the Director-General (2019) ILO op cit

⁵⁵ Coronavirus Disease 2019 (COVID-19) WHO Update 43, UN (September 2020)

https://www.un.org/unispal/document/coronavirus-disease-2019-covid-19-who-update-43/

⁵⁶ Battling COVID-19 in the occupied Palestinian territory (September 2020) The Lancet Global Health https://www.thelancet.com/journals/langlo/article/PIIS2214-109X(20)30237-0/fulltext#%20

⁵⁷ Report of the Director-General (2019) ILO op cit

⁵⁸ Israeli annexation of parts of the Palestinian West Bank would break international law – UN experts call on the international community to ensure accountability

⁵⁹ Peace to Prosperity (2020) Whitehouse https://www.whitehouse.gov/peacetoprosperity/
⁶⁰ Where is the 'peace' in Trump's Middle East Peace Plan? (2020) TUC

https://www.tuc.org.uk/blogs/where-peace-trumps-middle-east-peace-plan

⁶¹ US proposals on Israel/Palestine are an affront to Palestinian rights and dignity (2020) ITUC https://www.ituc-csi.org/us-proposals-on-israel-palestine

⁶² Grave concern about US plan to resolve Israel-Palestine conflict (27 February 2020) The Guardian https://www.theguardian.com/world/2020/feb/27/grave-concern-about-us-plan-to-resolve-israel-palestine-conflict

⁶³ Trump: West Bank annexation 'off the table', Christianity part of UAE deal (August 2020) The Jerusalem Post <u>https://www.jpost.com/middle-east/trump-christianity-part-of-uae-deal-west-bank-annexation-off-the-table-638639</u>

⁶⁴ Netanyahu: West Bank annexation 'remains on the table' after Israel-UAE deal (August 2020) Jewish News <u>https://jewishnews.timesofisrael.com/netanyahu-west-bank-annexation-remains-on-the-table-after-israel-uae-deal/</u>

⁶⁵ Letter from 133 UK parliamentarians rejecting US 'peace plan', calling for action against Israeli annexation (January 2020) Council for Arab British Understanding

https://www.caabu.org/news/news/letter-133-uk-parliamentarians-rejecting-us-peace-plan-calling-action-against-israeli-anne

⁶⁶ Israeli annexation of parts of the Palestinian West Bank would break international law op cit
⁶⁷ Letter by European Parliamentarians Against Israeli Annexation (June 2020) SCRIBD

https://www.scribd.com/document/466688615/Letter-by-European-Parliamentarians-Against-Israeli-Annexation

⁶⁸ Israeli annexation plans would lead to "cascade of bad human rights consequences", says UN expert (May 2020) United Nations Human Rights Office of the High Commissioner

https://www.ohchr.org/EN/NewsEvents/Pages/DisplayNews.aspx?NewsID=25857&LangID=E ⁶⁹ 127 British politicians demand UK impose sanctions on Israel in the event of annexation of occupied Palestinian territory (May2020) Council for Arab British Understanding

https://www.caabu.org/news/news/127-british-politicians-demand-uk-impose-sanctions-israel-event-annexation-occupied

⁷⁰ The Annexation That Was and Still Is (2020) B'Tselem https://reliefweb.int/report/occupied-palestinian-territory/annexation-was-and-still

⁷¹ International Convention on the Suppression and Punishment of the

Crime of Apartheid (July 1976) United Nations

https://www.un.org/en/genocideprevention/documents/atrocity-

crimes/Doc.10_International%20Convention%20on%20the%20Suppression%20and%20Punishment%20of%20the%20Crime%20of%20Apartheid.pdf

⁷² Dugard. J and Reynolds, J. Apartheid, International Law, and the Occupied Palestinian Territory (2013) The European Journal of International Law Vol. 24 no. 3, Oxford University Press

https://academic.oup.com/ejil/article/24/3/867/481600

⁷³ Falk R. (13 January 2014) op cit.

⁷⁴ TUC Congress 2010, C18 Palestine, TUC <u>https://www.tuc.org.uk/research-analysis/reports/congress-2010-composite-motion-c18-palestine</u>

⁷⁵ Congress Decisions 2012, Motion 75, TUC <u>https://www.tuc.org.uk/sites/default/files/tuc-</u> 21430-f0%281%29.pdf

⁷⁶ Report of Congress 2014, TUC

https://www.tuc.org.uk/sites/default/files/Report%20of%20Congress%202014%20-%20using%20new%20template%20rs.pdf

⁷⁷ TUC Congress 2018, Cuts to UNRWA and the Nation State Law, Emergency Motion 4, TUC <u>https://www.tuc.org.uk/sites/default/files/TUC%202018%20DAY%20FOUR%20PROCEEDINGS%2012%20SEPTEMBER.doc</u>

⁷⁸ TUC Congress 2019, Motion 75 Palestine – supporting rights to self-determination, TUC <u>https://congress.tuc.org.uk/motion-75-palestine-supporting-rights-to-self-determination/#sthash.fK9ywZjK.yEI5XTO6.dpbs</u>

⁷⁹ Motion 66 Solidarity with Palestine and resisting annexation (September 2020) TUC Congress https://congress.tuc.org.uk/motion-66-solidarity-with-palestine-and-resisting-annexation/#sthash.ATxxw1R8.dpbs

⁸⁰ The situation of workers of the occupied Arab territories, Report of the Director General (2019) International Labour Organisation https://www.ilo.org/wcmsp5/groups/public/---ed_norm/--relconf/documents/meetingdocument/wcms_705016.pdf

⁸¹ \$48 billion is the estimated revenue loss by Palestine from 2000-2017 due to occupation (2019) United Nations Conference on Trade and Development https://unctad.org/news/48-billion-estimated-revenue-loss-palestine-2000-2017-due-occupation

⁸² This is not a Covid-19 related anomaly, in quarter two of 2019 unemployment is Gaza stood at 47 per cent and 15 per cent in the West Bank

http://www.pcbs.gov.ps/portals/_pcbs/PressRelease/Press_En_7-8-2019-If_3-en.pdf

⁸³ Labour Force Survey (April-June, 2020) Round (Q2/2020) State of Palestine, Palestinian Bureau of Statistics http://www.pcbs.gov.ps/portals/_pcbs/PressRelease/Press_En_9-9-2020-LF-en.pdf
⁸⁴ Report of the Director-General (2019) ILO, op cit

⁸⁵ Ibid

⁸⁶ Ibid

87 Ibid

88 Ibid

⁸⁹ Ibid

⁹⁰ Labour Force Survey (April- June, 2020) op cit

⁹¹ A designated "closed military zone" between the wall and the Green Line

⁹² Falk R. (13 January 2014) op cit

⁹³ Labour Force Survey Results (2019) State of Palestine, Palestinian Central Bureau of Statistics http://www.pcbs.gov.ps/portals/_pcbs/PressRelease/Press_En_13-2-2020-LF2019-en.pdf

⁹⁴ Exploited and Essential: Palestinian Labour under Covid-19 (2020) Who Profits?

https://www.whoprofits.org/wp-content/uploads/2020/06/Exploited-and-Essential-Palestinian-Labour-under-Covid-19-2.pdf

⁹⁵ Occupation, Inc. How Settlement Businesses Contribute to Israel's Violations of Palestinian Rights (2016) Human Rights Watch

https://www.hrw.org/sites/default/files/report_pdf/israel0116_web2.pdf

⁹⁶ Report of the Director-General (2019) ILO, op cit

⁹⁷ A decade of organising Palestinian workers in the West Bank settlements (2019) WAC-MAAN https://auspalestine.org/2019/07/11/wac-maan-a-decade-of-organising-report/

⁹⁸ Occupation Inc, Human Rights Watch, op cit

⁹⁹ Cited in European complicity with Israel's occupation (2019) op cit

¹⁰⁰ The ITUC welcomes the Palestinian government decision to ban work permit brokerage (21 October 2019) f https://www.ituc-csi.org/IMG/pdf/20191022_-

_ituc_welcomes_ban_of_labour_brokerage_in_palestine.pdf

¹⁰¹ To protect rights, Palestinian workers to get Israel permits untied to employers (14 November 2020) The Times of Israel https://www.timesofisrael.com/to-protect-rights-palestinian-workers-to-get-israel-permits-untied-to-employers/

¹⁰² European complicity with Israel's occupation (2019) op cit

¹⁰³ The Occupation of Labor, Employment of Palestinian workers in Israel (2018) Ka LaOved

https://www.kavlaoved.org.il/en/wp-content/uploads/sites/3/2018/12/final-reduced-report.pdf/

¹⁰⁴ A decade of organising Palestinian workers in the West Bank settlements (2019) op cit

¹⁰⁵ Cited in European complicity with Israel's occupation (2019) op cit

¹⁰⁶ Cited in The Occupation of Labour (2018) op cit

107 Ibid

¹⁰⁸ Database on workplace accidents in construction (2019) Kav LaOved

https://www.kavlaoved.org.il/work-accidents-data/

¹⁰⁹ Report of the Director-General (2019) ILO, op cit

¹¹⁰ State of Palestine, World Statistics Day (2020) Palestinian Bureau of Statistics

http://www.pcbs.gov.ps/portals/_pcbs/PressRelease/Press_En_20-10-2020-wsd-en.pdf

¹¹¹ Cited in Exploited and Essential (2020) op cit

¹¹² PGFTU Report During Covid-19 (8 October 2020) Palestine General Federation of Trade Unions – information supplied to the TUC and available on request.

¹¹³ Report of the Special Rapporteur (15 March 2019) op cit

¹¹⁴ Pillage of the Dead Sea: Israel's Unlawful Exploitation of Natural Resources in the Occupied Palestinian Territory (3 September 2012) Al Haq https://www.alhaq.org/publications/8076.html ¹¹⁵ Industry, Manufacture of stone and marble in Palestine, Union of Stone and Marble Industry in Palestine https://www.usm-pal.ps/industry.php?lng=2

¹¹⁶ Cited in Occupation, Inc (2016) op cit

¹¹⁷ The Great Drain: Israeli quarries in the West Bank: High Court Sanctioned Institutionalized Theft (24.9.2017) Yesh Din https://www.yesh-din.org/en/great-drain-israeli-quarries-west-bankhigh-court-sanctioned-institutionalized-theft/

¹¹⁸ European complicity with Israel's occupation (2019) op cit

¹¹⁹ Plight of Gaza fishermen after Israel's gradual destruction of their sector (2018) B'Tselem
https://www.btselem.org/gaza_strip/20190211_gaza_fishermen_plight_due_to_israeli_restrictions
¹²⁰ Ibid

¹²¹ Continuing the United Kingdom's trade relationship with Israel, Trade and Partnership Agreement between the Government of the United Kingdom of Great Britain and Northern Ireland and the Government of the State of Israel (February 2019) Department for International Trade

https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/ file/781446/continuing-the-uks-trade-relationship-with-israel.pdf ¹²² Ibid Northern Ireland and the Government of the State of Israel (February 2019) Crown Copyright https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/781440/CS_lsrael_1.2019_Trade.pdf

¹²⁵ UK arms sales to Israel, (August 2020) Campaign Against the Arms Trade https://caat.org.uk/resources/countries/israel/

¹²⁶ Guidance, Overseas Business Risk - The Occupied Palestinian Territories (August 2018) Foreign and Commonwealth Office/Department for International Trade

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/overseas-business-risk-palestinian-

territories/overseas-business-risk-the-occupied-palestinian-territories

¹²⁷ Statement on the implications of the Guiding Principles on Business and Human Rights in the context of Israeli settlements in the Occupied Palestinian Territory (June 2014) United Nations Human Rights Office of the High Commissioner

https://www.ohchr.org/documents/issues/business/optstatement6june2014.pdf ¹²⁸ lbid

¹²⁹ Statement by the Spokesperson on the latest settlements' announcements by the Israeli authorities (2019) European Union External Action

https://eeas.europa.eu/headquarters/headquarters-Homepage/60945/statement-spokesperson-latest-settlements%C3%AD-announcements-israeli-authorities_en

¹³⁰ UN Expert Welcomes Ruling on Labelling of Israeli Settlements Products by European Court of Justice (November 2019) United Nations https://www.un.org/unispal/document/un-expert-welcomes-ruling-on-labelling-of-israeli-settlements-products-by-european-court-of-justice-press-release/

¹³¹ Guiding Principles on Business and Human Rights (2011) United Nations

https://www.ohchr.org/documents/publications/guidingprinciplesbusinesshr_en.pdf ¹³² Think Twice, Can companies do business with the Israeli settlements in the Occupied Palestinian Territories while respecting human rights? (2019) Amnesty International https://www.amnesty.org.uk/files/2019-

03/Think%20Twice%20report.pdf?BrN9N0VX3RkzTJROuKYC46LE43hCPtTu=

¹³³ Report of the independent international factfinding mission to investigate the implications of the Israeli settlements on the civil, political, economic, social and cultural rights of the Palestinian people throughout the Occupied Palestinian Territory, including East Jerusalem, (February 2013) UN General Assembly Human Rights Council https://undocs.org/pdf?symbol=en/a/hrc/22/63 ¹³⁴ Database Pursuant Human Rights Council Resolution 31/36 (March 2016) United Nations Human Rights Council

https://www.ohchr.org/en/hrbodies/hrc/regularsessions/session31/pages/databasehrc3136.aspx ¹³⁵ UN rights office issues report on business activities related to settlements in the Occupied Palestinian Territory (February 2018) United Nations Human Rights Office of the High Commissioner

https://www.ohchr.org/EN/NewsEvents/Pages/DisplayNews.aspx?NewsID=25542&LangID=E

 ¹²³ Greg Hands MP, Minister of State for Trade Policy (8 October 2020) Hansard https://hansard.parliament.uk/Commons/2020-10-08/debates/C20304AC-1BDF-4F7D-9890-930D640E3559/HumanRightsTradeAgreements#contribution-B00C2BF0-9120-4FAE-A94F-07DD31F7A514

¹²⁴ Trade and Partnership Agreement between the Government of the United Kingdom of Great Britain and

¹³⁷ Falk R. Report of the Special Rapporteur on situation of human rights in the Palestinian territories occupied since 1967 op cit

138 Ibid

¹³⁹ BDS Marks Another Victory As Veolia Sells Off All Israeli Operations (September 2015) BDS https://bdsmovement.net/news/bds-marks-another-victory-veolia-sells-all-israeli-operations
¹⁴⁰ LPHR Statement: UK watchdog finds G4S is violating human rights obligations towards
Palestinians (9 June 2015) Palestinian Lawyers for Human Rights https://lphr.org.uk/latest-news/lphr-press-statement-uk-watchdog-finds-g4s-is-violating-human-rights-obligations-towards

¹⁴¹ Protecting Palestinian human rights: Supreme Court confirms investment decisions can be used to promote peace (18 May 2020) TUC https://www.tuc.org.uk/blogs/protecting-palestinian-human-rights-supreme-court-confirms-investment-decisions-can-be-used

¹⁴² LGPS Divest https://lgpsdivest.org/

¹⁴³ Report of Congress 2014, op cit

¹⁴⁴ Report of Congress 2014, op cit

¹⁴⁵ TUC Congress 2019, Motion 75, op cit

¹⁴⁶ See Report to Congress 2014; TUC Congress 2019 Motion 75 op cit

¹⁴⁷ Congress Report 2011, Motion 71 Peace in the Middle East/South Asia (July 2012) TUC

https://www.tuc.org.uk/research-analysis/reports/congress-report-2011

¹³⁶ Israeli settlements: Companies (11 March 2020) UK Parliament https://questionsstatements.parliament.uk/written-questions/detail/2020-03-06/26161